

By-Laws for a Resident Organization

BY-LAWS OF _____ RESIDENT ORGANIZATION

ARTICLE I: NAME

The name of the organization shall be _____ Resident Organization. It shall be composed of the residents (the "Membership") and an elected Resident Organization Board (the "Board"). [OPTIONAL: It is a not-for-profit organization constituted and established under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The address of the Organization is _____.

ARTICLE II: PURPOSE

The purpose of the Organization is to improve the quality of life for the residents of the property. The organization shall be empowered to represent all residents on:

1. Issues and problems generally affecting them and their community.
2. Activities that improve the quality of life; promote education, economic stability, and recreational opportunities for them; as well as those that increase property beautification; and improved relationships with management.

ARTICLE III: MEMBERSHIP

All residents who are eighteen years of age or older, or are heads of households, shall be members and shall have full voting rights.

ARTICLE IV: MEMBERSHIP MEETINGS

- Section 1. Regular Meetings shall be held monthly on the ____ day of the month, beginning at (time).
- Section 2. Special Meetings may be called at any time by the Board.
- Section 3. Annual Meeting shall be held on (day, month) and shall include election of Board Members.

ARTICLE V: POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE RESIDENT ORGANIZATION

- Section 1. Members of the Resident Organization shall:
- a. Elect the Board members.
 - b. Vote on these by-laws and any amendments to these by-laws.
 - c. Set the overall policy of the Resident Organization through resolutions and motions on activities.
 - d. Receive reports from the Board, the secretary (who shall also keep minutes of the meeting), and all committees.
 - e. Receive the treasurer's report including a detailed report of all bills received and paid, and any funds received.
- Section 2. Voting participation and procedure.
- a. Each member shall have one vote.

- b. The President of the Resident Organization shall chair the membership meetings and set procedure of debate, setting time limits on speakers and number of speakers allowed to speak for and against a motion, when necessary.
- c. *Robert's Rules of Order* shall be used to resolve any conflicts about procedures.

ARTICLE VI: RESIDENT ORGANIZATION BOARD

Section 1. Composition. The Board shall consist of nine members elected at large by the membership.

Section 2. Terms of Office.

- a. The Board members shall be elected on a staggered basis for two-year terms.
- b. At the next election following by-laws adoption nine members shall be elected. The President, Vice-President, Secretary, and Treasurer shall serve two-year terms. Five community representatives shall each serve one-year terms.
- c. In the next annual election, five representatives shall be elected for a regular two-year term.
- d. After the initial two years, elections will be held every year filling the seats of the members whose terms have expired.
- e. Members filling a vacancy on the Board will serve for the remainder of the unexpired term, after which the seat will be filled in an annual election for a regular term.
- f. Accurate records shall be kept for all elections.

Section 3. Procedure for Nominations.

- a. Nominations for the Board members shall be opened ten days before the meetings.
- b. A nomination must be made in writing to the President at least five days before the annual meeting in order to be placed on the ballot.

Section 4. Procedure for Voting. In electing Board members, each member will receive votes equal to the number of seats open. No member can cast more than one vote for any candidate. The candidates who receive the most votes will be the new Board members.

Section 5. Vacancies.

- a. Any vacancy on the Board shall be filled by special election at the next regular membership meeting after the vacancy occurs, or at a special meeting called for that purpose, provided that all members receive at least five days written notice that an election will be held to fill a vacancy.
- b. In the case of special elections, all nominations shall be made from the floor.

- c. In the case of a vacancy of the chair, the Vice President shall assume the President's duties until an election is held to fill the vacancy on the Board. If any officer is elected to the chair, another vote shall be taken to fill the new vacancy.

Section 6. Removal of a Board Member.

- a. A member of the Board who has been absent from three consecutive meetings without excuse shall automatically be removed unless a majority vote of the Board members decides otherwise.
- b. A member of the Board may be removed for good cause by a 2/3 vote of all members present at a duly constituted membership meeting. The member being removed shall be entitled to a written notice stating the grounds for removal at least five days in advance of the meeting, and shall have the opportunity to be heard before the membership.

ARTICLE VII: RESIDENT ORGANIZATION BOARD MEETINGS

Section 1. Meetings. The Board shall meet at least once a month before the meetings of the Resident Organization.

Section 2. Notice. Each Board member shall be given timely notice of each Board meeting.

Section 3. Quorum. A simple majority of the Board members shall constitute a quorum for conducting business.

Section 4. Procedure. The Board shall adopt procedures consistent with these by-laws.

Section 5. Duties. The Board shall:

- a. Manage the affairs of the Resident Organization between membership meetings.
- b. Develop and recommend policy and programs for the Resident Organization.
- c. Coordinate the work of various committees of the Resident Organization.
- d. Report its activities at each meeting of the Resident Organization.
- e. Represent the Resident Organization in meetings with Management and/or ownership.

ARTICLE VIII: OFFICER DUTIES

Section 1. President: Shall preside over Board and membership meetings, represent the Resident Organization in all matters, appoint heads of standing and temporary committees.

Section 2. Vice-President: Shall assist the president in carrying out his/her duties, perform those duties when the president is absent, and assume those duties should the president become incapacitated or resign until new elections are held.

Section 3. Secretary/Treasurer: Shall record all minutes of Board and membership meetings, make the Board report at membership meetings, receive funds, pay bills, and report to the membership on the financial status of the Resident Organization.

ARTICLE IX: COMMITTEES

The Board shall establish as many committees as are needed to conduct its business. The heads of these committees shall be appointed by the President and will report activities at meetings of the Board.

ARTICLE X: BY-LAWS

Section 1. Adoption. These by-laws shall be adopted by a majority vote of the members at the first duly constituted meeting of the membership.

Section 2. Periodic review. These by-laws shall be reviewed at least once every two years by a temporary committee, which shall recommend to the Resident Organization any changes that should be made.

Section 3. Amendments. Amendments to these by-laws shall be made by a majority vote of the members present at a duly constituted membership meeting, after all members have received at least five days' advance notice of the changes being considered.

Section 4. Neither meetings of the Resident Organization or of the Board shall be bound by *Robert's Rules of Order* except in cases of conflict or uncertainty over interpretations or a procedural issue not covered by these by-laws.